IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

•

•

CASE NO.

JUDY A. BUENOANO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Northern Region Florida Bar No. 279080

SYLVIA W. SMITH Assistant CCC - NR Florida Bar No. 0055816

Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## INTRODUCTION

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In August, 1984, Ms. Buenoano was indicted for first degree murder regarding the 1971 death of her husband. On November 1, 1985, Ms. Buenoano was found guilty, and the trial court subsequently sentenced her to death. Ms. Buenoano's trial counsel, James Johnston, **also** served **as** her appellate counsel. The conviction and sentence were affirmed by the this Court. <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1988). A death warrant was signed on November 9, 1989.

On December 21, 1989, a Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence was filed in the circuit court; it was summarily denied. On that same date a petition for writ of habeas corpus and request for stay of execution were filed in this Court. This Court entered a stay of execution on January 24, 1990.

Subsequently, after consolidating the petition for writ of habeas corpus with the appeal from the summary denial of the Rule 3.850 motion, this Court denied relief. <u>Buenoano v. Dugger</u>, 559 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1990). On May 17, 1990, another death warrant was signed by the Governor.

On June 5, 1990, Ms. Buenoano filed an emergency motion to vacate her judgment and sentence. Included with the motion was a consolidated request for leave to amend and for a stay of execution. The circuit court denied all relief on June 12, 1990, and denied motion for rehearing on June 15, 1990. The decision

was affirmed by this Court on June 20, 1990. <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 565 So. **2d** 309 (Fla. 1990).

On June 21, 1990, Ms. Buenoano filed an initial 28 U.S.C. Sec. 2254 action in the United States District Court. On June 21 and 22, 1990, the district court held a limited evidentiary hearing, at the conclusion of which judgment was entered denying all relief. This judgment was appealed to the United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit, and on June 4, 1992, the matter was vacated and remanded to the district court for a full evidentiary hearing. Buenoano v. Sinsletarv, 963 F.2d 1433 (11th Cir. 1992). After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the district court entered judgment denying relief on June 30, 1994. The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the judgment. Buenoano v. Singletary, 74 F.3d 1078 (11th Cir. 1996), reh. denied, 85 F.3d 645 (11th Cir. 1996). Petition for writ of certiorari was thereafter denied. Buenoano v. Sinsletarv, 117 S. Ct. 520 (1996) .

Ms. Buenoano and James Buenoano, her son, were charged as co-defendants for the June 25, 1983 attempted first degree murder of John Gentry in Escambia County (R. 3523). James and Judy Buenoano were both represented by James Johnston. In James Buenoano's trial, the State presented evidence that Judy Buenoano had nothing to do with Gentry's death and testimony of a police officer that the physical evidence adduced by the investigators was consistent with the evidence of her innocence. James Buenoano was nevertheless acquitted.

During Ms. Buenoano's trial, the evidence tending to exculpate her was not presented. What was presented was the testimony of Roger Martz. Martz testified that he was a forensic chemist for the FBI. Martz testified that he found a poison in some tablets which Gentry claimed were given to him by Ms. Buenoano. Martz testified that in July, 1983 he received two Vicon C tablets, a multivitamin, sent to him by the Chief of Police in Pensacola, Florida. Martz testified that he took the powder out of the capsules and performed infrared analysis, x-ray analysis, and mass spectometry analysis (R. 2736-38) and that initially, he was unable to make an identification (R. 2738). Martz testified that subsequently he determined that the powder contained in the capsules was negative for vitamins but was positive for paraformaldehyde. According to Martz, paraformaldehyde is an organic polymer that has a variety of uses and is toxic<sup>5</sup> (R. 2770-71). Thus, Martz's testimony provided crucial collateral crimes evidence<sup>6</sup> against Ms. Buenoano in her capital trial.

In its closing argument during the guilt phase of the Escambia County trial, the State seized upon Martz's testimony in order to show Ms. Buenoano had a propensity and intent to commit the charged offense in this circumstantial evidence case:

By Mr. Patterson:

'According to his lab report, "highly" toxic. <sup>6</sup>See Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla.), cert. denied, 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

Mr. Martz testified from the FBI lab in Washington, "yes I received those pills and I tested them." And lo and behold, what did he find out was in them? Paraformaldehyde. What is paraformaldehyde. It is a poison ... She tried to kill him with paraformaldehyde first. Did she intend his death? Clearly. Clearly she intended his death.

(R. 2889, 2920). Ms. Buenoano was convicted of attempted first degree murder of John Gentry.

Martz's Escambia County testimony then became pivotal during Ms. Buenoano's First Degree murder trial in Orange County. Martz' testimony provided the basis for uncharged collateral crime evidence to be admitted against Ms. Buenoano.

Ms. Buenoano's trial counsel stipulation of the following was read to the jury during the guilt phase of the Orange County proceedings:

By Mr. Perry:

It's been stipulated by the State and the defense that the pills that Mr. Gentry testified to were retrieved by Detectives Chamberlain and Steele of the Pensacola Police Department, that those pills were taken into evidence by Officer Gwendolyn Pate, that she then in turn transmitted those pills to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, where they were analyzed by a chemist by the name of Marion Estees.

Mr. Estees determined, one, that the container of the capsules were Vicon C type capsules, two, that Mr. Estees was unable to determine the contents of the capsules.

Those capsules were subsesuently forwarded to the Federal Bureau of Investisation's laboratory in Washington, D.C., and examined by a chemist by the name of Roser Markz (sic) of the FBI. Mr. Markz (sic) determined that the capsules were Vicon C, and that the substance contained inside of

# those capsules was saraformaldehvde, Class III poison.

It's been further stipulated by the State and the defense that search warrants were executed by the police, Pensacola Police Department, on the home and business of the defendant in July of 1983, in Pensacola, Florida, that as a result of the execution of that search warrant of her home there was no paraformaldehyde found, nor any arsenic.

That as a result of the execution of the search warrant at her business, Fingers and Faces, there was no paraformaldehyde found there, nor was there any arsenic found there.

(R. 1012) (emphasis added).

During the penalty phase portion of the Orange County trial, the prosecutor, Michael Patterson, from the Escambia County case, testified that Ms. Buenoano gave Gentry Vicon C tablets that contained poison (R. 1525). Based on Martz's findings and trial counsel's stipulation, the prosecutor, Belvin Perry, in the Orange County case, queried the jury during his penalty phase closing argument:

> Where was God in her life when she tried to murder John Gentry, and when the sinsle dose Of Poisoning and when the double dose didn't work she tried dynamite? . . . And what mercy did she show John Gentry? When she couldn't poison him, what did she do? Took him out for what they thought would be his last supper when he went out that night, and only God saved that man's life

(R. 1713, 1715) (emphasis added).

The conviction obtained against Ms. Buenoano in Escambia County was used in Orange County to support the State's case for a sentence of death. The trial court relied on the conviction in

sentencing Ms. Buenoano to death (R. 2342-43). In affirming Ms. Buenoano's conviction and sentence, this Court placed great weight on the collateral crime evidence of poisoning. <u>Buenoano</u> <u>v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1988).

Beginning in January of 1997, having taken responsibility to represent Ms. Buenoano, her then CCR-counsel, Mr. Peter Mills, began directing an investigation of her case by having public records requests made to any and all relevant state agencies. By the end of January, nearly thirty (30) requests had been made. Three (3) agencies: the Office of the State Attorney in and for Orange County, the Orlando Police Department and the Orange County Sheriff, refused to comply with the requests on the basis of Rule 3.852.

On April 9, 1997, collateral counsel requested records pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), the Privacy Act, <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and <u>Gislio v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972) from the: (1) the Freedom of Information Act Office of the United States Department of Justice, (2) the Criminal Investigations Division of the Office of the Inspector General of the United States DOJ, (3) the FBI Laboratory Task Force, (4) the Freedom of Information Act/Privacy Act Division of the FBI in Washington, D.C. and (5) the Freedom of Information Act/Privacy Act Division of the FBI in Tampa, Florida.

The requests sought access to information about the ongoing investigation of the FBI Lab and Roger Martz by the Department of

Justice including any and all materials discovered or produced during the investigation which regarded Judy A. Buenoano or Roger Martz in any way,

On April 15, 1997, the United States Department of Justice's Office of Inspector General issued a report entitled "THE FBI LABORATORY: AN INVESTIGATION INTO LABORATORY PRACTICES AND ALLEGED MISCONDUCT IN EXPLOSIVES -RELATED AND OTHER CASES " [hereinafter OIG Report]; See Attachment 1. The result of a lengthy and detailed investigation into three sections of the FBI Crime Laboratory in Washington, D.C (the Explosives Unit, the Materials Analysis Unit, and the Chemistry-Toxicology Unit) the OIG report issued findings regarding various practices at the FBI Crime Laboratory as well as addressed serious deficiencies noted in various cases in which the FBI Crime Laboratory and its scientists were involved.

As a result of their investigation, the OIG recommended that Martz "should not hold a supervisory position in the Laboratory, and the FBI should assess whether he should continue to serve as a Laboratory examiner" (OIG Report at 4). The OIG report concluded:

> Based on our investigation, we conclude that Roger Martz lacks the credibility and judgment that are essential for a unit chief, particularly one who should be substantively evaluating a range of forensic disciplines. We found Martz lacking in credibility because, in matters we have discussed above, he failed to perform adequate analyses to support his conclusions and did not accurately or persuasively describe his work. We recommend that Martz not hold a supervisory position. The Laboratory should evaluate whether he should continue to serve as an examiner or whether he would better

serve the FBI in a position outside the Laboratory. If Martz continues to work as an examiner, we sussest that he be supervised by a scientist qualified to review his work substantively and that he be counseled on the importance of testifying directly, clearly and objectively, on the role of protocols in the Laboratory's forensic work, and on the need for adequate case documentation. Finally, we recommend another aualified examiner review any analytical work by Martz that is to be used as a basis for future testimony.

OIG Report at 448 (emphasis added).

On April 11, 1997, Ms. Buenoano filed Petitions seeking Writs of Mandamus against the three Orange County agencies who had refused to disclose records. Later that month, the office representing Ms. Buenoano ceased all operations due to budget shortfalls. That office, CCR, was abolished on June 16, 1997, and in its place three (3) new regional CCRCs were created. By October, all the lead attorneys and most of the second chair attorneys from the former CCR had left, leaving only undersigned who had been promoted to lead attorney just September 4, 1997. Three attorneys who had been assigned to the Buenoano case in the spring of 1997 were among the attorneys who were gone by August. The legal team assigned to the <u>Buenoano</u> case was in a constant state of flux until after the warrant was signed due to the changes in personnel at the CCC-NR.

Meanwhile, on May 2, 1997, a DOJ FBI Task Force attorney, Amy **Jabloner** contacted Gail Kinsley at the United States

Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Florida via a four (4) page facsimile transmission.<sup>7</sup>

On May 12, 1997, Jabloner contacted Kinsley again and forwarded to the U.S. Attorney's Office the laboratory reports issued **by** Roger Martz in the <u>Buenoano</u> case for U.S. Attorney P. Michael Patterson's review.

On June 4, 1997, a representative from the U.S. Attorney's Office faxed to Jabloner a copy of a June 2, 1997 letter from U.S. Attorney Patterson to First Judicial Circuit State Attorney Curtis Golden which stated that his recollection was that the defense stipulated to the results of Martz's chemical analysis and he therefore did not testify during Ms. Buenoano's attempted murder trial in Escambia County.

On June 5, 1997, a DOJ FBI Task Force attorney contacted Assistant State Attorney Coffman via a four (4) page facsimile.'

On June 12, 1997, DOJ FBI Task Force attorney, Lucy Thompson, wrote First Judicial Circuit Assistant State Attorney John C. Spencer and forwarded to him as requested, a copy of the Office of the Inspector General's report on the FBI Lab, the lab reports for the <u>Buenoano</u> case and a "case information form" to fill out and return.

<sup>8</sup>The contents of this communication have not been disclosed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This communication as well as the others between state and federal officials mentioned *supra were* only discovered by collateral counsel on February 20, 1998. The contents of this communication remain undisclosed.

On June 26, 1997, Spencer wrote Thompson representing that Martz did not testify in the Escambia County trial and that his chemical analysis was not significant in either the prosecution or verdict.<sup>9</sup> Spencer also forwarded an "FBI Laboratory Case Review" form to Thompson which stated that the forensic analysis performed by the FBI lab was not material to the verdict.

In a letter dated June 27, 1997, the Freedom of Information Act/Privacy Act Division of the FBI in Washington, D.C. provided <u>81 pages of material</u> with an explanation that <u>the release of 81</u> <u>pages contains additional pages that were "inadvertently not</u> <u>copied" in a 1990 release</u> to Ms. Buenoano.<sup>10</sup> (emphasis added). The remaining requested records were withheld.

In October<sup>11</sup> of 1997, Ms. Buenoano's Orange County Petitions for Writ of Mandamus were transferred to Ms. Buenoano's criminal case by order of the circuit court to be treated as motions to compel.

On December 9, 1997, the Governor signed a warrant for Ms. Buenoano's execution which is scheduled to take place March 30,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>A second identical letter was sent dated August 4, 1997.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Collateral counsel had previously requested FBI files via the Freedom of Information Act. In a response dated March 29, 1990, the FBI forwarded to CCR Investigator Gary A. Hendrix, <u>forty (40) pages of material</u>. The material provided in 1997 included numerous pages of "Lab Worksheet Items" never previously provided. Included in those pages are the test result charts of the tests conducted by Martz.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In the intervening months, CCR ran out of money, was abolished and replaced by three (3) new Regional Offices of the Capital Collateral Counsel, and Ms. Buenoano's former attorney, Mr. Peter Mills, resigned.

1998. Counsel began contacting the Court in the Ninth Judicial Circuit to try to set a hearing on public records issues.

On December 17, 1997, this Court directed that any proceedings in the case be expedited. Thereafter, counsel's efforts to set a hearing were successful. Hearing was set for January 6, 1998.

On December 18, 1997, Task Force attorney Thompson wrote a letter to Ninth Judicial State Attorney Lawson Lamar and forwarded crucial public records.<sup>12</sup> Thereafter in a letter dated December 22, 1997, Thompson forwarded additional records to the state with instructions that the documents were not public and should only be disclosed pursuant to a protective order because the material might contain reference to individuals whose identification was protected or because the information was otherwise sensitive.<sup>13</sup>

Ms. Buenoano's motions to compel were denied on January 6, 1998, and the Court issued an written order denying on January 8, 1998.

Thereafter the State filed its Request for **In Camera** Inspection and Judicial Determination of Prosecutorial Obligation stating that "the Office of the State Attorney has knowledge of the existence of additional FBI records <u>believed not to have been</u> previously disclosed to Buenoano through any source, records to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Submitted to the Court for <u>in camera</u> inspection on January 12, 1998.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>A portion of these records were then disclosed to Ms. Buenoano on January 23, 1998.

which it is believed Buenoano will assert entitlement" (PC-R2. 188) (emphasis added). The matter was set for hearing to be conducted January 12, 1998.

Meanwhile, on January 8, 1998, Assistant State Attorney Coffman received a thirteen (13) page facsimile from Jabloner.<sup>14</sup>

On January 12, 1998, Ms. Buenoano filed a rehearing motion (PC-R2. 191-318) and the circuit court conducted a hearing on the State's request for *in* camera inspection (T3. 1-29) . Ms. Buenoano **was** not provided with an inventory of what the State filed under seal for *in* camera inspection or any detailed information about the sources of the material or when it was obtained by the State. At the hearing the State submitted <u>four</u> (4) manila envelopes of documents to the circuit court (T3. 25) (emphasis added).

Later that day, the State submitted "<u>two (2) manila</u> envelopes containins additional materials provided to my office by the United States Department of Justice" in connection with Ms. Buenoano's case which it stated had been not been filed under seal during the hearing "through . . . inadvertence." Assistant State Attorney Coffman's cover letter to the circuit court also stated that "for purposes of identification, <u>these materials</u> <u>constitute the entire contents of the transmittal dated December</u> <u>18, 1997</u>." (PC-R2. 190, 345, 346; <u>see</u>, Motion to Expedite Appeal) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The contents of this correspondence have also never been provided.

On January 15, 1998, the circuit court issued a seven (7) page order regarding the State's Request for *In Camera* Inspection (PC-R2. 332-38) and denied Ms. Buenoano's motion for rehearing.

Upon receipt of the circuit court's orders, Ms. Buenoano made a formal Rule 3.852 request on the Office of the State Attorney (PC-R2. 348-54; 380-83). The request specifically invoked Rule 3.852 (n) as an additional basis for the request in light of the fact that it had been shown that the existence of some of the records requested could not have previously been known to Ms. Buenoano. The Office of the State Attorney responded in a letter dated January 21, 1998 (PC-R2. 384-85).

Meanwhile, Ms. Buenoano requested that the attorney for George Trepal (who was challenging his conviction and sentence of death on the basis that unreliable Martz testimony was utilized during his homicide by poisoning trial) and the State Attorney for Polk County disclose whatever material they had in their possession from the FBI Lab Task Force (<u>See</u>, Motion to Expedite Appeal). Stating that because the material is part of Mr. Trepal's active litigation file and because the circuit court has indefinitely extended protective orders as to additional materials which are under seal, Mr. Trepal will not grant Ms. Buenoano's request for access to the material he possesses from the FBI Lab Task Force. Mr. Trepal's denial stated that the documents form the basis of various claims for relief on behalf of Mr. Trepal, including claims arising under both <u>Bradv</u> and

<u>Gislio</u> and that the records could well provide similar claims on behalf of Ms. Buenoano (<u>See</u>, Motion to Expedite Appeal).

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