IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUDY A. BUENOANO,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 92,522

ACTIVE DEATH WARRANT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF THIRD RULE 3.850 MOTION TO VACATE THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0445071

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 327832
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

CO-COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

On the facts of this case, no violation of Chapter 119 or this Court's case law concerning capital defendants' rights to public records has been demonstrated. No relief is warranted on this claim.

⁴ In 1989 Buenoano filed a petition before this Court seeking records regarding her trial attorney, James Johnston, from the Florida Bar. See, <u>Judias Buenoano v. Florida Bar</u>, Case No. 68,091.

ISSUE V

BUENOANO'S UNCHALLENGED PRIOR CONVICTIONS IN SANTA ROSA COUNTY AND ESCAMBIA COUNTY DO NOT CONSTITUTE A BASIS FOR COLLATERAL RELIEF IN THIS THIRD SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.850 MOTION.

Buenoano next asserts that the trial court erred in summarily denying her claim that the presentation of an unconstitutionally obtained conviction, i.e., the Escambia County conviction for the attempted murder of John Gentry, "deprived [her] of a fair and reliable trial and capital sentencing determination." Buenoano claims that she "can plead facts which, if true, entitle her to relief from her Escambia County conviction" and, therefore, the trial court should have granted her an evidentiary hearing to establish said facts. It is the state's position that Buenoano has not presented an appropriate basis to obtain relief from the death sentence which was imposed upon her in this case. circuit court, nor this Court, can review the legality of the collateral and presumed valid prior conviction that Buenoano received in Escambia County. Calloway V. State, 699 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Bush v. State, 682 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1996).

Buenoano's Santa Rosa County conviction for the first degree murder of her invalid son, Michael, was affirmed by the First District Court in 1985. <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 478 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), jurisdiction improvidently granted, petition for review dismissed, <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 504 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1987). The validity of this conviction has not been challenged and is not

an issue in this case. Buenoano's Escambia County conviction for the attempted murder of car-bombing victim John Gentry, however, is at issue in the instant case. This conviction was affirmed by the First District Court in 1986. Buenoano v. State, 484 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), cause dismissed, 488 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986). It is the Escambia case in which Roger Martz testified concerning the Vicon-C capsules which were found to contain paraformaldehyde. (R. 2770). This conviction has never been challenged, let alone set aside and is, therefore, still valid.

On April 5, 1990, almost eight years ago, this Court declined to reach Buenoano's post-conviction claim that her death sentence was unconstitutional because her prior convictions used in aggravation allegedly were obtained unconstitutionally. This Court found, and Buenoano conceded, that this issue was not ripe for review. No challenge had been filed and no basis for a challenge had been asserted. Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116, 1120 (Fla. 1990).

Now, twelve years after her Escambia County conviction was affirmed on direct appeal, and eight years after she abandoned this claim in her post-conviction appeal from Orange County, Buenoano again, disputes the validity of her prior conviction. She now claims that due to the testimony of FBI examiner Roger Martz in establishing the content of the Vicon-C tablets, the presentation of the prior conviction as an aggravating factor in the instant

case, deprived her of a fair and reliable trial and capital sentencing determination.

The circuit court reviewed this claim and stated:

In this claim, Buenoano asserts that the presentation of an unconstitutionally obtained conviction, i.e., the Escambia conviction for the attempted murder of John "deprived [her] of a fair and reliable trial and capital sentencing determination." Buenoano's claim that she "can plead facts which, if true, entitle her to relief from her Escambia County conviction" does not provide her with a basis to obtain relief from the death sentence which was imposed upon her in this Neither this court, case. nor Florida Supreme Court, can review the legality of the conviction that Buenoano received in Escambia County. Calloway v. State, 699 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Bush v. State, 682 so. 2d 85 (Fla. 1996). If Buenoano wishes to postconviction relief with regard to the Escambia County conviction, she should do so; this Court certainly is not hampering her efforts.

Furthermore, in her argument, Buenoano completely ignores that fact that at the penalty phase of the proceedings, the State also presented evidence of her conviction from Santa Rosa County for the first degree murder of her son, a conviction for which she is serving a sentence of life imprisonment. Therefore, even if the Escambia conviction for the attempted murder of John Gentry had not been presented, the State presented evidence of another murder that Buenoano was convicted of.

Therefore, there was still another murder conviction as an aggravating circumstance to support the imposition of the death penalty in this case.

Based upon the foregoing, the Court finds that Buenoano is not entitled to relief on Claim IV of her rule 3.850 motion.

As the trial court found, neither the circuit court nor this Court has jurisdiction to set aside a prior conviction which was affirmed by the District Court of Appeal and which was used to establish the prior violent felony aggravating factors. See, Bush v, State, 682 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1996); Roberts v. State, 678 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 1996); Eutzv v. State, 541 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1989) (Death row inmate not entitled to post-conviction relief due to pendency of collateral proceedings to vacate prior conviction in another jurisdiction.)

Further, it should be noted that the conviction in Escambia County was for the attempted murder of John Gentry by car-bombing, not poisoning. (R 1519) Accordingly, any impeachment evidence about the content of the capsules, would still leave intact the fact that Buenoano bombed Gentry's car and that he became ill after ingesting the pills that she insisted he take. In light of this evidence, Buenoano would be unable to satisfy the newly discovered evidence standard. Correll v. State, 698 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 1997).

Moreover, even if the now-challenged testimony of Roger Martz in the Gentry case were to form the basis for an out-of-time, successful challenge to the Escambia County conviction, a point which the State specifically denies, Buenoano still has an additional prior murder conviction for her son, Michael, in Santa Rosa County. During the penalty phase of Buenoano's trial, Santa Rosa County prosecutor, Russell Edgar testified concerning the

facts of Buenoano's conviction for the drowning death of her son, Michael. (R 1556) Michael was paralyzed from the elbows to the fingertips and from his knees to his toes and was wearing fifteen pounds of braces. Edgar testified that the defendant, Judy Buenoano and her other son James, took the handicapped Michael out in a canoe. He was placed in a folding chair and seated in the middle of the canoe. He was then taken up river and drowned by his mother, Judy Buenoano. (R 1556-57) Buenoano ultimately received approximately \$100,000 in life insurance for the death of her son, Michael. (R 1573)

In any event, while evidence concerning the Vicon-C tablets was presented in the guilt phase, the evidence presented in support of the aggravating factor in the penalty phase was limited to evidence concerning the car-bombing. John Gentry and prosecutor Michael Patterson testified only as to the bombing of Gentry's car. Neither testified about the Vicon-C tablets. (R 1497-1550)

In <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So.2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993), this Court reviewed a similar claim and stated:

Moreover, Henderson would be entitled to no relief even if the claim were not barred. Although Henderson sought postconviction relief in connection with the convictions, all relief was denied by the trial court and an appeal of that denial is currently pending before the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (FN4) Because the Putnam County convictions have not been vacated <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988), is inapplicable. <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 557

(Fla.), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 925, 110 S.Ct. 1962, 109 L.Ed.2d 324 (1990); <u>Eutzy v. State</u> 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla.1989); Bundv v. State: 538 So.2d 445 (Fla.1989). Even if the Putnam County convictions vacated, were aggravating factor of prior conviction of a capital felony would still have established beyond a reasonable doubt. this case, Henderson was convicted of three counts of first-degree murder and sentenced to death for each. As noted above, each of these convictions supports the finding of a prior capital felony conviction in connection with the other sentences. Thus, consideration of Putnam County convictions would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because there is ample independent support for this aggravating factor. Tafero, 561 So.2d at 559.

Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d
313, 316 (Fla. 1993) (emphasis added)

Thus, as this Court held in <u>Henderson</u> and as the trial court found below, even if the sentence had been challenged and vacated, the admission of the conviction would be harmless in light of the prior unchallenged convictions. See, also, <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990) (Harmless error analysis may be applied by appellate court if conviction for a prior violent felony that formed the basis for an aggravating circumstance is later set aside.) As Buenoano has failed to establish that the trial court erred in summarily denying this claim, her request for relief should be denied.

ISSUE VI

BUENOANO'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY WAS NOT VIOLATED WHEN JUROR BATTLE FAILED TO DISCLOSE DURING JURY SELECTION THAT HE HAD BEEN CONVICTED OF INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER IN PENNSYLVANIA.

Buenoano asserts that she is also entitled to a new trial because she recently learned that one of her jurors was convicted of involuntary manslaughter in Pennsylvania in 1978 and sentenced to one to three years imprisonment in a state institution. Based on the following, the state asserts that this claim is procedurally barred and that Buenoano has failed to present any basis upon which relief can be granted. With regard to this claim the trial court stated:

this claim, Buenoano alleges on February 19, 1998, her counsel learned through an anonymous tip that Juror J.B. Battle was convicted of involuntary manslaughter in Pennsylvania in 1978 and sentenced to one to years imprisonment in а institution. Buenoano contends information is newly discovered evidence, and that based upon it, she is entitled to a new trial.

To prevail on a claim based upon this evidence, which Buenoano asserts is newly discovered evidence, Buenoano must show that: 1) the facts were previously unknown, 2) the facts could not have been known by the use of due diligence, and 3) the evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones, 591 So.2d at 915. Buenoano has had over a decade to research and discover any irregularities in the histories; thus, the fact that Juror Battle had a prior conviction could easily have been discovered through the exercise of

diligence. Thus, this claim is procedurally barred.

However, alternatively, the Court finds that the evidence that Juror Battle had a prior conviction would have absolutely no effect on the outcome of the proceedings, and it most certainly would not produce an acquittal on retrial.

Furthermore, Buenoano has not even attempted to assert how she was prejudiced by Juror Battle's presence on the jury. It seems that if anyone was prejudiced by the presence on the jury of an individual who had been convicted of manslaughter and who served time in a correctional institution, it would be the State.

Based upon the foregoing, the Court finds that Buenoano is not entitled to relief on Claim V of her rule 3.850 motion.

Claims which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a motion to vacate filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994); Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d 206 (Fla.), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 113 s. ct. 119 (1992); Raulerson v. State, 420 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1982); Christopher v. State, 416 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1982); Alvord v. State, 396 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1981); Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). It is also not appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue. Torres-Arboleda, 636 So.2d at 1323; Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). The purpose of 3.850 motions is to provide a means of addressing alleged constitutional errors in a judgment or sentence, not to review errors which are cognizable on direct appeal. McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983).

This claim is procedurally barred. Juror Battle's criminal history was not objected to at trial nor was the issue raised on direct appeal to this Court. In Willacy v. State, 640 So.2d 1079 (1994), this Court rejected Willacy's claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion for new trial based on a claim that a juror was under prosecution when selected to sit on the jury. This Court noted that during the trial the State informed Willacy's counsel of the juror's status and his counsel voiced no objection. Accordingly, this Court held that by failing to make a timely objection, Willacy waived the claim.

In the instant case, defense counsel did not ask any of the jurors, including Juror Battle, about their criminal history. Nor did he move to have Juror Battle excused on this or any other basis. While collateral counsel maintains that this information could not have been discovered at the time of trial or during the last two rule 3.850 motions, the record shows that Mr. Battle, as did all of the other prospective jurors, filled out a juror voir dire questionnaire which indicates his criminal history. (Attached as Exhibit A) On his questionnaire, Mr. Battle responded affirmatively to four questions, including a question concerning whether he or any member of his family had "ever been accused, complainant, or witness in a criminal case." He also noted that the jury reached a verdict and that he was related to a law enforcement officer. If defense counsel was concerned about this

issue he could and should have inquired at that time. The failure to do so waives this claim for review. Willacv. See, also, Ford v. United States, 201 F.2d 300 (1953). Accordingly, this claim should be denied as procedurally barred. Porter v. State, 478 So.2d 33, 36 (Fla. 1985) (claim of recently discovered evidence that a grand juror was married to a relative of the victims rejected as not timely raised.) See, generally, Jenninus v. State, 583 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1991); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Blanco v. State, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Furthermore, as this claim was raised for the first time in the motion to vacate filed on March 4, 1998, ten years after her conviction was affirmed on direct appeal it is clearly time-barred.

Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1993); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Consistent with rule 3.850 (b), this Court has declined to consider an untimely claim based on evidence which could have been considered earlier by the exercise of due diligence. Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1995); Aaan v. State, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990).

Rule 3.850 (b) sets forth the time limitations for filing a motion to vacate. It expressly states, in pertinent part, that no motion shall be filed or considered pursuant to this rule if filed more than 2 years after the judgment and sentence become final unless it alleges that the facts on which the claim is predicated

were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence. This is only a threshold requirement for filing an out of time motion.

Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1995) In order to prevail on her claim of newly discovered evidence, however, Buenoano must demonstrate that the error would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Correll v. State, 698 So.2d 522 (Fla. 1997); Bolender v. State, 661 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1995).

To paraphrase this Court's recent decision in Pope v. State.

22 Fla. Law Weekly S743 (Fla. December 4, 1997), "We do not overlook procedural default lightly. . . . We have clearly held that successive postconviction relief motions that were filed after the expiration of the time limit must be based on newly discovered evidence. . . . Here, [the defendant] has not alleged new or previously unknown evidence. Neither has [she] alleged that a fundamental constitutional right has been established which should apply retroactively to [her] case." Id. at 5744.

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